FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/29/2018 4:39 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK



95449-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74600-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN STRAUSS and MICHELLE STRAUSS, husband and wife, and their marital community

Petitioners,

v.

PREMERA BLUE CROSS,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Victoria E. Ainsworth WSBA No. 49677

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

KORNFELD TRUDELL BOWEN & LINGENBRINK, PLLC

By: Patrick A. Trudell WSBA No. 11363

3724 Lake Washington Blvd NE Kirkland, WA 98033 (425) 822-2200

ORIGINAL

filed via PORTAL

A. Identity of Petitioners and Decision Below.

Petitioners John and Michelle Strauss ("Strauss") seek review of Division One's published decision affirming the summary judgment dismissal of Strauss' breach of contract, insurance bad faith, and Consumer Protection Act claims. The Court of Appeals granted Strauss' motion to publish its September 5, 2017 opinion (App. A) on December 29, 2017. (App. B)

B. Issues Presented for Review.

1. In determining whether a particular medical treatment is superior to another and therefore should be covered by a health insurance policy, is a policyholder entitled to resolution by a factfinder of conflicting expert testimony based on credible scientific evidence and peer-reviewed medical literature?

2. Did the Court of Appeals impose an additional requirement beyond the plain language of a health insurance policy by relying on the absence of randomized clinical trials to hold that proton beam therapy was not superior to conventional radiation therapy in the treatment of prostate cancer, thereby frustrating the ability of patients to benefit from new treatments that are recommended by their physicians based on competent scientific evidence?

C. Statement of the Case.

1. To minimize the severity of traditional radiation side effects, John Strauss' physician recommended proton beam radiotherapy to treat his "high-risk" prostate cancer.

Petitioner John Strauss, then age 59, was diagnosed with "high-risk," "high-volume" prostate cancer in October 2008. (CP 69, 72, 1336-37) Strauss discussed his treatment options at length with his physicians, who confirmed that Strauss' "adverse cardiac history which includes bypass heart surgery, and cardiac arrhythmia" put him at a "higher operative risk" for surgical treatment. (CP 110, 1334-35, 1337) A surgical prostatectomy also included a "higher risk of impotency and urinary incontinence" as side effects. (CP 69, 1335) In light of these increased risks, Strauss chose radiotherapy treatment. (CP 69, 73, 88, 110, 1335-37)

Strauss consulted with Dr. David Bush, a Board Certified oncologist at Loma Linda University Medical Center ("Loma Linda"), regarding his radiotherapy options. (CP 892, 899, 1392) There are two primary types of radiotherapy: proton beam therapy ("PBT") and traditional intensity modulated radiation (photon x-ray) therapy ("IMRT"). (CP 88, 94, 691, 1125) The "significant side effects from radiation therapy... are damage to the rectum from excess radiation which can lead to bladder and bowel dysfunction; radiation damage to the penile bulb which can lead to sexual function issues; and, secondary cancer from excess radiation to surrounding tissue." (CP 1338) In contrast, by more precisely targeting a "well-defined high dose" of radiation at the target location, "the volume of normal tissue receiving radiation is typically reduced by a factor of 2-3" by PBT rather than IMRT. (CP 1125) While more expensive than IMRT, PBT thus is a superior treatment, resulting in fewer side effects caused by "excess radiation" to healthy tissue. (CP 1125-26, 1338)

Dr. Bush recommended PBT over IMRT to Strauss because PBT risked fewer side effects, particularly given the location and size of his cancer. (CP 895, 1392) Heeding Dr. Bush's advice, Strauss received PBT treatment at Loma Linda from February to April 2010. According to his physicians, he has been in "[e]xcellent" condition since then. (CP 133, 137)

2. Premera Blue Cross denied coverage for proton beam therapy on the basis that it was not "medically necessary" under its policy in the absence of randomized clinical studies.

Prior to receiving PBT in February 2010, Strauss sought coverage for the treatment under his health insurance policy with respondent Premera Blue Cross ("Premera"). (CP 10, 241) The policy provided coverage for "medically necessary" treatments:

Those covered services and supplies that a physician, exercising prudent clinical judgment, would provide to a patient for the purpose of preventing, evaluating, diagnosing or treating an illness, injury, disease or its symptoms, and that are:

- In accordance with generally accepted standards of medical practice;
- Clinically appropriate, in terms of type, frequency, extent, site and duration, and considered effective for the patient's illness, injury or disease; and
- Not primarily for the convenience of the patient, physician, or other health care provider, and not more costly than an alternative service or sequence of services at least as likely to produce equivalent therapeutic or diagnostic results as to the diagnosis or treatment of that patient's illness, injury or disease.

(CP 212) The policy further defined "generally accepted standards of

medical practice" as:

[S]tandards that are based on credible scientific evidence published in peer reviewed medical literature generally recognized by the relevant medical community, physician specialty society recommendations and the views of physicians practicing in relevant clinical areas and any other relevant factors.

(CP 212)

Dr. Neil Kaneshiro, a pediatrician working part-time for Premera examining coverage requests, reviewed the pre-authorization request for Strauss' PBT therapy. (CP 241, 1360-64) Conceding he was "not an expert" in oncology or radiology, Dr. Kaneshiro denied Strauss'

claim, concluding that PBT was "not medically necessary" in the absence of "clinical outcomes" showing PBT's superiority "to other approaches." (CP 243, 1368) In reaching his conclusion, Dr. Kaneshiro relied exclusively on Premera's Corporate Medical Policy, stating that PBT "may be considered not medically necessary in patients with clinically localized prostate cancer," because he "understood" based on the Policy that PBT cost more than IMRT. (CP 1005, 1366, 1368-69) (emphasis added) Dr. Kaneshiro relied on the Policy despite the disclaimer that it is merely a "guideline[] that serve[s] as a resource for Company staff when determining coverage for specific medical procedures," and without consulting with an oncologist, with no expertise in the field nor "any specific knowledge on what IMRT costs, what proton costs." (CP 1004-05, 1368) Dr. Kaneshiro did not review any peer-reviewed medical literature and declined to speak with Strauss' treating physician Dr. Bush about his cancer before denying Strauss' claim. (CP 1366, 1368-69)

Strauss exhausted his administrative remedies by appealing Premera's denial of coverage three times and submitting additional evidence from his physicians approving PBT as a medically necessary treatment. (CP 244-45, 247-53, 280-81, 283, 1124-28) Premera repeatedly denied Strauss coverage, claiming there was "*no* evidence

in the recent peer-reviewed medical literature" of PBT's superiority. (CP 272-75, 277, 288-90) (emphasis added) Strauss finally sought independent review from the Washington State Office of Insurance Commissioner, who designated Managing Care Managing Claims as ("MCMC") as the independent review organization. (CP 290, 297, 302-03, 305-06) MCMC upheld Premera's denial of coverage despite conceding there was evidence of "positive data available . . . for this technology in prostate cancer." (CP 309)

3. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Strauss' claims, holding that only clinical evidence directly comparing proton beam therapy with traditional radiation therapy would be sufficient to demonstrate medical necessity under the policy.

Strauss sued Premera in August 2013 for breach of contract, insurance bad faith, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act. (CP 3-9) Agreeing with Premera's contention on summary judgment that the only issue before the trial court on the breach of contract claim was "whether PBT is medically necessary because it leads to fewer side effects" (CP 19, 748), Strauss submitted expert testimony from his treating physician Dr. Bush and from Dr. George Laramore addressing PBT's superior side effect profile. (CP 1122-28, 1331-54)

Dr. Laramore considered the four primary side effects of any form of radiotherapy – sexual function, bladder and bowel dysfunction, joint deterioration and the development of hip symptoms, and risk of secondary cancer – and relied on 27 different peer-reviewed articles and studies. (CP 1338, 1347-50, 1352-54) He concluded that "[a]lthough IMRT and Proton Radiotherapy are biologically equivalent in radiating the prostate tumor," they "<u>are not</u> <u>equivalent</u> in terms of the side effect profile and so the <u>overall</u> therapeutic results are not equivalent but would be better with proton radiotherapy." (CP 1335, 1351) (emphasis in original)

The trial court granted Premera's motion for summary judgment and dismissed all of Strauss' claims. (CP 1472-73) In a published opinion (App. B), Division One affirmed. (App. A at \P 60) After weighing the parties' conflicting scientific evidence, the Court of Appeals held as a matter of law that Strauss was not entitled to benefit from proton beam therapy in the absence of randomized clinical studies conclusively proving PBT's superiority over IMRT:

> Because the record establishes there are peer-reviewed medical studies that show the side effects of PBT may be superior to IMRT and other peer-reviewed medical studies that show the side effects of IMRT may be superior to PBT, reasonable minds could only conclude that absent clinical evidence directly comparing PBT and IMRT, the treatments are equivalent and Strauss cannot show PBT was medically necessary.

(App. A at ¶ 59)

- D. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with the well-established law that an expert's affidavit based on credible scientific data is sufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2))

Division One's conclusion that plaintiffs' expert testimony, based on credible scientific data, was too speculative and theoretical to establish a triable issue of fact conflicts with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals. Washington courts have repeatedly recognized that affidavits from competent expert witnesses are sufficient to raise factual issues precluding summary judgment. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because Division One improperly invaded the province of the jury by weighing conflicting evidence, viewing that evidence in the light most favorable to the moving party, and requiring the party opposing summary judgment to submit conclusive evidence on the merits, in conflict with numerous cases from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

> a. Expert testimony based on peerreviewed medical literature and data from scientific studies is neither conclusory nor speculative.

The Court of Appeals decision disregards the well-established law that "an affidavit containing expert opinion on an ultimate issue of fact [is] sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact which would

preclude summary judgment." Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 352, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979) (affirming reversal of trial court's dismissal on summary judgment); N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 187 Wn. App. 460, 468, ¶ 15, 348 P.3d 1237 (2015) (reversing summary judgment dismissal because "[a]dmissible expert opinion testimony on an ultimate issue of fact is sufficient to create an issue as to that fact, precluding summary judgment"), *aff'd* 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016); J.N. v. Bellingham Sch. Dist. No. 501, 74 Wn. App. 49, 60-61, 871 P.2d 1106 (1994) (reversing summary judgment dismissal where expert affidavit created factual issue).

Strauss provided affidavits and reports of two highlyqualified, Board Certified radiation oncologists. Pursuant to ER 703, both experts based their opinions on "credible scientific evidence published in peer reviewed medical literature generally recognized by the relevant medical community" (CP 1336), citing 59 peerreviewed articles and studies, including "[p]ublished data from a number of institutions (including data obtained in a prospective randomized fashion)" (CP 1126), that demonstrated – at a minimum – a factual issue as to PBT's superior side effect profile. (CP 1122-1322, 1331-54)

This evidence was neither conclusory nor speculative. Indeed, Premera never challenged the admissibility of the testimony of either plaintiffs' experts, conceding that their "opinion[s] might qualify as a scientifically valid theory under *Frye*." (Resp. Br. 29-30; RP 32; Reply Br. 10) As the Court of Appeals recognized, PBT was both clinically appropriate and a "generally accepted" treatment for Strauss' prostate cancer. (App. A at ¶ 57 n. 19) Division One then wrongly disregarded this substantial credible scientific evidence, dismissing the plaintiffs' expert testimony as mere "theory" under the erroneous premise that, in the absence of randomized clinical trials *conclusively* proving PBT's superiority, any inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn by experts from actual scientific data and medical literature are unreliable and insufficient to raise an issue of fact.

But this Court held that an expert may properly draw inferences from scientific data in arriving at his or her conclusions in Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 611, ¶ 22, 260 P.3d 857 (2011) (even where novel scientific evidence is implicated, "Frye does not require every deduction drawn from generally accepted theories to be generally accepted") (emphasis added). Division One's published decision conflicts with Anderson

and with *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn.2d 300, 309, 907 P.2d 282 (1995), in which this Court held that it is for the jury, not the court, to "evaluate . . . [a] lack of substantial statistical support concerning [a] therapy's efficacy." (quoted source omitted); *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 607, ¶ 17 ("evidence is tested by the adversarial process within the crucible of cross-examination, and adverse parties are permitted to present other challenging evidence") (citing *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 596, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993)).

In *Reese*, for instance, the plaintiff sued his doctor for negligently failing to treat his emphysema, caused by "AAT deficiency," a blood-borne protein deficiency, with Prolastin, a protein replacement therapy. 128 Wn.2d at 302-03. Similar to here, the defendant "did not argue that the theory or the methodology involved in Prolastin therapy lacks acceptance in the scientific community," and "uncontroverted testimony" demonstrated "that the FDA approved the use of Prolastin in treating AAT-deficient patients." *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 307. Instead, the defendant objected to the "expert causation opinion on the basis that there have been no statistically significant studies proving the efficacy of Prolastin therapy when used to treat AAT deficiency." *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 307.

In reversing the trial court's directed verdict for the defendant, this Court held that, "[w]hile an expert may express an opinion based on statistics, such a basis is certainly not required." *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 309. Where the expert's opinion was "based on his extensive experience in treating AAT deficiency," "his participation in and reliance on studies using Prolastin therapy," and "the information known to the medical profession at the time of Plaintiff's treatment," this Court did "not find that lack of statistical support fatal" to the expert's causation opinion. *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 309-10. This Court held that the courts must trust the adversarial process and the jury's ability to "evaluate the foundation for [the expert's] opinion" accordingly. *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 309.

Just as in *Reese*, Drs. Bush and Laramore's "status as an expert is not in dispute," "[n]or should it be disputed that his testimony would prove helpful to the trier of fact" given that "[f]ew lay persons are well versed" in radiotherapy treatment for prostate cancer. 128 Wn.2d at 308-09. In considering whether plaintiffs' expert testimony was "speculative" or "theoretical," the Court of Appeals' concern should have been solely whether it would "prove so technical that the jury is unable to judge its reliability." *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 309.

Here, neither expert's testimony was "so technical" that the jury could not "judge its reliability." As Dr. Bush explained, "the deleterious effects of any amount [of] radiation on human tissue have been well-known for nearly a century." (CP 1125) A proton "is a positively-charged subatomic particle" that "interacts with human tissue differently than does an x-ray beam." (CP 1125) PBT can be targeted more precisely to administer a "well-defined high dose" of radiation at the target location; in contrast, IMRT delivers the "highest dose relatively close to the skin surface," requiring the radiation beam to "traverse[] the remainder of the body" while getting "exponentially" weaker as it does so. (CP 1125) Because IMRT requires "multiple beams to hit any one particular area, giving the highest dose where all of the beams intersect," a "large volume of normal, 'innocent bystander,' tissue receives a low to medium dose of radiation." (CP 1125)

In contrast to "inevitably radiat[ing]" healthy tissue with IRMT, studies confirm that the volume of healthy tissue "receiving radiation is typically reduced by a factor of 2-3" with PBT. (CP 1125) Relying on his "extensive experience in treating" prostate cancer with PBT, "his participation on and reliance on studies using [PBT]," and "the information known to the medical profession at the time of [Strauss'] treatment," *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 309-10, Dr. Bush concluded that the "clinical benefits inherent in this [proton beam] radiation dose reduction are both intuitively obvious and well established." (CP 1125)

z

2

Although Division One may have disagreed with the conclusions of plaintiffs' experts, the Court of Appeals improperly "evaluate[d]... the lack of substantial statistical support concerning the therapy's efficacy," when the jury would have been "perfectly capable of determining what weight to give this kind of expert testimony." *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 309 (quoted source omitted); *see also Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 610-11, ¶ 21 ("If we were to ... require 'general acceptance' of each discrete and evermore specific part of an expert opinion, virtually all opinions based upon scientific data could be argued to be within some part of the scientific twilight zone."). This Court should accept review and remand for trial.

b. In disregarding plaintiffs' expert testimony, the Court of Appeals invaded the province of the jury by impermissibly weighing the evidence and deciding as a matter of law an issue that should have gone to the jury.

Nothing in the Premera policy requires evidence from randomized clinical trials to prove that a treatment is medically necessary. Yet Division One held that because conflicting evidence

existed as to the superiority of PBT versus IMRT, "reasonable minds could only conclude that absent clinical evidence directly comparing PBT and IMRT, the treatments are equivalent and Strauss cannot show PBT was medically necessary." (App. A at ¶ 59) The Court of Appeals erred by going beyond the plain language of the policy to impose the additional requirement of randomized clinical trials to conclusively prove PBT's superiority.¹ Scientists have questioned the presumed superiority of randomized clinical trials. *See* J. Grossman and F. Mackenzie, "The Randomized Clinical Trial: gold standard, or merely standard?" *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, Vol. 48, No. 4, 2005, pp. 516-34.

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