FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/28/2018 1:54 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 954496

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74600-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN STRAUSS and MICHELLE STRAUSS, husband and wife, and their marital community,

Appellants,

v.

PREMERA BLUE CROSS,

Respondent.

Facsimile:

PREMERA BLUE CROSS'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

KILPATRICK TOWNSEND & STOCKTON LLP
GWENDOLYN C. PAYTON
(Washington State Bar No. 26752)
GPayton@kilpatricktownsend.com
Suite 3700, 1420 Fifth Avenue
Seattle, WA 98101
Telephone: 206 467 9600

206 623 6793

Attorneys for RESPONDENT Premera Blue Cross

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

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Strauss Must Satisfy the Criteria that Govern Petitions for Supreme Court Review.

RAP 13.4(b) provides: "Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Strauss purports to rely on only sub-parts (1), (2) and (4). However, Strauss's Petition for Review does not analyze any of these standards as they pertain to the Superior Court's or the Court of Appeals' decision, only referencing them in passing.

B. Strauss Fails to Satisfy Any of the RAP 13.4 Criteria.

- 1. In Affirming Dismissal of Strauss's Breach Of Contract Claim, the Court of Appeals Concluded that Strauss Did Not Satisfy His Contractually Established Burden Of Proof That PBT Was "Medically Necessary."
 - a. The Court of Appeals applied well-settled law regarding summary judgment standards under CR 56 and rules for construction of insurance contracts.

The Court of Appeals applied well-settled law in affirming dismissal of Straus's claim:

• <u>Summary Judgment Standards.</u> "While [in reviewing a summary judgment] we construe the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, if the nonmoving party "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof

- at trial," summary judgment is proper." *Strauss*, 408 P.3d at 709–10 (quoting *Young v. Key Pharms., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986)) (citing *Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 291, 300-01, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002)). "The insurer is entitled to summary judgment if reasonable minds could not differ that its denial of coverage was based upon reasonable grounds." *Id.* at 710 (citing *Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 486, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003)).
- <u>Insured's Duty to Prove Coverage Under the Insuring Clauses</u>. "The party seeking to establish coverage bears the initial burden of proving coverage under the policy." *Id.* at 710 (citing *Pleasant v. Regence Blue Shield*, 181 Wn. App. 252, 261-62, 325 P.3d 237 (2014)).
- General Rules for Contract construction. "We construe insurance policies as contracts."

 Id. at 710 (citing Kut Suen Lui v. Essex Ins. Co., 185 Wn.2d 703, 710, 375 P.3d 596 (2016)).

 "The principles of contract interpretation apply." Id. (citing Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005). "If the language in an insurance contract is not ambiguous, the court must enforce it as written." Id. (citing State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Ruiz, 134 Wn.2d 713, 721, 952 P.2d 157 (1998)). "Interpretation of an insurance contract is a question of law that we also review de novo." Id. (citing Overtonv. Consol. Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 424, 38 P.3d 322 (2002); Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005)).
- Special Rules for Interpretation of Insurance Contracts. "Under RCW 48.18.520, we construe an insurance contract according to the entirety of its terms and conditions as set forth in the policy and as modified by any endorsement made a part of the policy." *Id.* (citing *Kut Suen Lui*, 185 Wn.2d at 711, 375 P.3d 596. "If a term is defined in a policy, the term should be interpreted in accordance with that policy definition." *Id.* (citing *Kitsap County v. Allstate Ins.* Co., 136 Wn.2d 567, 576, 964 P.2d 1173 (1998)). "Insurance

policies are liberally construed to provide coverage wherever possible." *Id.* (citing *W. Nat'l Assurance Co. v. Shelcon Constr. Grp. LLC*, 182 Wn. App. 256, 261, 332 P.3d 986 (2014)). The foregoing principles are universally established in Washington, and there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and decisions of other Washington courts.

b. Strauss Had the Burden to Prove Medical Necessity.

Strauss does not deny that he bears the burden to prove that PBT is medically necessary, i.e., that PBT leads to fewer side effects. Indeed, his Petition for Review does not even address proof burdens, and leaves unchallenged the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Strauss bore the burden of proof that PBT was medically necessary. *Strauss*, 408 P.3d at 710 ("The party seeking to establish coverage bears the initial burden of proving coverage under the policy") (citing *Pleasant*, 181 Wn. App. at 261-62).

"The insured bears the burden of showing that coverage exists; the insurer that an exclusion applies." *Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Co. v. T&G Construction, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 259, 199 P.3d 376 (2008) (citing *Am. Star. Ins. Co. v. Grice*, 121 Wn.2d 869, 875, 854 P.2d 622 (1993)). In *Baxter v. MBA Grp. Ins. Tr. Health & Welfare Plan*, 958 F. Supp. 2d 1223 (W.D. Wash. 2013), the Western District of Washington rejected the insured's claim for coverage of PBT, following an exhaustive analysis which concluded that the "medically necessary" requirement was not an exclusion because it appeared in the "Medical Benefits" section of the Plan, and therefore the insured bore the burden of proof. *Id.* at 1229-30.

Baxter contained the identical definition of "medically necessary" that is at issue here, and here it is likewise located in the Benefits section of the policy. Compare 958 F. Supp. 2d at 1228-29, 1233 to CP 212. Likewise, here Strauss's Plan states that, "[b]enefits are available for a service ... when it meets all of these requirements:... It must be, in our judgment, medically necessary." CP 177. The Plan then goes on to define "medically necessary." Compare 958 F. Supp. 2d at 1228-29, 1233 to CP 212; see also, infra at 6-7.

Thus, the Court of Appeals properly required Strauss to bear the burden to prove that PBT was medically necessary.

c. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed Dismissal of Strauss's Breach Of Contract Claim Because Strauss Did Not Satisfy His Burden Of Proof That PBT Was "Medically Necessary."

It is undisputed that the medically necessary determination turned on whether PBT has superior or fewer side-effects. "Strauss does not dispute that PBT is more costly than IMRT or that PBT and IMRT are equally effective in treating prostate cancer. Therefore, Strauss concedes he must show PBT results in superior or fewer side effects than IMRT." *Strauss*, 408 P.3d at 710. However, because there are no randomized trials comparing PBT to IMRT, there is no clinical evidence that PBT is superior in any way. Therefore the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the case, which was proper.

As the Court of Appeals explained:

The testimony of [Strauss's experts] Dr. Laramore and Dr. Bush and the peer-reviewed medical studies they rely on do not create a material issue of fact on side effects. The undisputed record establishes there were no published clinical studies directly comparing PBT and IMRT. Accordingly, Dr. Laramore and Dr. Bush cite published medical studies to support the opinion that PBT results in fewer side effects than IMRT. Dr. Laramore and Dr. Bush draw inferences from the studies and theoretical models to conclude PBT is superior to IMRT. Dr. Laramore testified that "because there ... have been no randomized trials at this stage[,] ... that's what I mean by having to look at literature and kind of infer differences." Dr. Laramore admits his opinion that PBT is superior for the risk of contracting secondary cancers is "theoretical." Dr. Laramore testified that he based his opinion on the superiority of PBT over IMRT regarding sexual potency on the "assumptions" that "patient groups are basically equivalent" across two different studies. Dr. Laramore based his opinion on the side effects from radiation to the rectal wall on one medical study.

Because the record establishes there are peer-reviewed medical studies that show the side effects of PBT may be superior to IMRT and other peer-reviewed medical studies that show the side effects of IMRT may be superior to PBT, reasonable minds could only conclude that absent clinical evidence directly comparing PBT and IMRT, the treatments are equivalent and Strauss cannot show PBT was medically necessary. *See also Baxter*, 958 F.Supp.2d at 1234 (rejecting argument that the side effects of PBT are superior to IMRT).

Strauss, 408 P.3d at 710–11.

This application of the record evidence to the Plan's medical necessity requirement does not conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals precedent, nor does it involve an issue of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4. The holding has no application outside the specific

contract provisions and facts at issue in this case. In attempting to meet the RAP 13.4(b) requirement, Strauss complains that the Court of Appeals considered the cost of the treatment; but this is a factor identified in the Plan's definition of "medically necessary" (along with others relating to efficacy of the proposed treatment), and the Court of Appeals' application of that contractual requirement does not merit Supreme Court review.

The Court of Appeals' decision contains an extensive summary of the scientific evidence offered by both sides, and concludes that "reasonable minds could only conclude that absent clinical evidence directly comparing PBT and IMRT, the treatments are equivalent and Strauss cannot show PBT was medically necessary." *Id.*; *see also, Strauss*, 408 P.3d at 710 (citing *Smith*, 150 Wn.2d at 486, 78 P.3d 1274) ("The insurer is entitled to summary judgment if reasonable minds could not differ that its denial of coverage was based upon reasonable grounds.").

As the Court of Appeals explained, all that researchers have done with respect to PBT to the extent relevant in this case—side-effects caused by PBT—is predict that PBT may cause fewer side-effects based on models, dosimetric studies (studies that compare treatment plans) and cross-study comparisons. CP 419 (Beer Report). Every single study cited by Strauss's experts (many of which do not involve IMRT at all) suffer from this defect. Strauss's expert, Dr. Laramore, was candid about this. He admitted that PBT's alleged superiority over IMRT is "theoretical," and based on "assumptions" and "inferences" drawn from the literature. *Id.*; CP 657,778-79, 787 (Laramore Depo at 57-58, 62-64, 93); see also CP 691 (Laramore Report: "there have not been direct randomized trials ... but rather one must review the literature to infer the advantages and disadvantages").

Strauss's argument that PBT is "medically necessary" under the Plan relies on the opinion of two doctors, his doctor at Loma Linda (Dr. Bush) and his paid expert (Dr. Laramore). *See* Strauss's Pet. at 9-14. Strauss argues that because these opinions are admissible under *Frye* as "novel scientific evidence," they necessarily raise an issue of fact on the question of "medically necessary." *Id.* at 10-11. But the dispositive issue here is not admissibility of Dr. Bush's or Dr. Laramore's testimony; the dispositive issue is contract interpretation and application of the facts

to the parties' contract. Strauss cites no case for the nonsensical position that any admissible scientific opinion automatically satisfies the contractual defining of "medically necessary."

Scientific evidence may be admissible under *Frye* but not meet the Plan's "medically necessary" requirement. "[S]cientific standards and legal standards do not always fit neatly together." *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 607, 260 P.3d 857 (2011). Under *Frye*, a court first considers whether a particular theory is generally accepted and, if it is, then whether that theory would be helpful to the trier of fact under ER 702. *Id.* at 603. Under the general acceptance inquiry, a scientific theory passes muster under *Frye* so long as the "science and methods are widely accepted in the relevant scientific community ... without separately requiring widespread acceptance of the plaintiffs theory" itself. *Id.* at 609.

That Dr. Bush's and Dr. Laramore's opinions might qualify as a scientifically valid *theory* under *Frye* does not mean that they support Strauss's allegation that PBT is superior. Indeed, both Dr. Bush and Dr. Laramore conceded that it is not superior. CP 683 (Bush Depo at 68-69);CP657, 660 (Laramore Depo at 62-64, 174). The Plan's definition of "medically necessary" is an objective standard that evaluates whether an alternative treatment is "at least likely to produce equivalent" results. CP 212.

Strauss's experts agree that randomized trials are the "gold standard" for an evidence-based comparison of different treatment methods. CP 660 (Laramore Depo at 174). As Dr. Bush, who treated Strauss at Loma Linda, put it: "in today's world, [it] is what most people point to as being kind of definitive data for scientific folks." CP 902 (Bush Depo at 55).

A randomized trial is relevant to comparing treatment methods because it eliminates the variables and "sampling bias" that render modeling and cross-study comparisons (articles comparing the results of separate studies) unreliable—i.e., different patient pools, testing methods, grading scales, frequency and completeness in patient follow up. CP 424 (Beer Report); CP 901-03 (Bush at 54, 55, 58). Again, Strauss's experts agree: absent a randomized trial, "you're grabbing two groups of patients who, of course, you try to make as similar as you can, but there may be differences between the groups that you can't control." CP 901 (Bush Depo at 52); CP 657

(Laramore Depo at 63: "And so there may be a mismatch in the patient cohorts under the study. This is the purpose of doing a randomized trial."). It is undisputed that no randomized trial compares PBT and IMRT.

Regardless, even the non-controlled studies upon which Strauss relies offer mixed conclusions on the theoretical benefit of PBT—another point that Strauss's own experts concede. CP 683 (Bush Depo at 68: "[t]here's data, I think, to support both sides."). Indeed, a significant number of dosimetric and comparative studies suggest that IMRT results in the same or fewer side-effects than PBT. For example, as NCCN noted:

The largest retrospective comparative effective analysis to date comparing IMRT to proton therapy has been performed using SEER-Medicare claims data With follow-up as mature as 80 months and using both propensity scoring and instrumental variable analysis, the authors concluded that men receiving IMRT therapy had statistically lower gastrointestinal morbidity than patients receiving proton therapy, whereas rates of urinary incontinence, non-incontinence urinary morbidity, sexual dysfunction, hip fractures, and additional cancer therapies were statistically indistinguishable between the cohorts.

CP 368. Many other studies have reached the same conclusion. CP 421,428-31 (Beer Report); also CP 1300 ("there was no advantage of protons over photons."). In sum, and as the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals concluded, Strauss cannot show that PBT is superior to IMRT as a matter of law when there is no direct clinical evidence establishing that fact, and even the predictive and comparative literature disputes it.

For these reasons, the medical community considers IMRT the standard of care for radiation therapy to treat prostate cancer. This is reflected in the fact that no recognized national association of radiologists or oncologists recommends PBT. CP 416 (Beer Report); CP 827 (Laramore Depo at 248-49); CP 439-40, 940 (Bush Depo at 185-86, 202-05); CP 663 (Russell Depo at 30). On the contrary, NCCN's and ASTRO's guidelines, which reflect the generally accepted consensus among experts in this field, uniformly state that there is "no clear evidence" that PBT offers any clinical advantage over IMRT. CP 368, 482 (NCCN Guidelines); CP 642 (ASTRO). Strauss's expert, Dr. Laramore, agreed with that statement. CP 827 (Laramore Depo at 247-48).

No doubt for these same reasons Strauss's Washington doctors did not recommend PBT (and only Dr. Bush at Loma Linda, where Strauss received the treatment, did). CP 84, 110 (Lin Depo at 44, 64); CP 88 (Russell Depo at 32-33); CP 91 (Stewart Depo at 103-04); CP 81 (Jensen Depo at 88-89). In fact, Dr. Russell told Strauss that there exists a "lack of clear, long term evidence showing improved side effect profile for patients who undergo proton therapy versus [IMRT] therapy." CP 1020.

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